
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

January 3rd, 2017  9:00 am 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jan J. Moore 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman John Riggs 
 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations  

A) Presentation of Retirement for Jimmy Edenfield, Water Sewer Supervisor, Water 
Sewer Department, after 42 years of service. 

B) Presentation of Run The 'Boro 5K / Holiday Celebration Proceeds To The Statesboro 
Boro Food Bank 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 11-15-2016 Executive Session Minutes  
b) 12-06-2016 Council Minutes  
c) 12-06-2016 Executive Session Minutes 

B) Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2017-01: A Resolution to Fix and  
      Publish Qualifying Fees for the City of Statesboro November 7, 2017 General  
      Election.  
 

6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve Alcohol License Applications: 
A) Zip N Food #10 
     (Beer and Wine Package only) 

         Pallavi Patel, Keyuriben Patel, & Ekta D Patel 
                  1803 Chandler Road 
                  Statesboro Ga 30458 

      Council District 4 (Riggs)  
B) Southern Billiards & Burgers Inc.  

                 (Enlarging their current building to include the adjoining building) 
         James H. Rushing Jr. 
       200 Lanier Drive Suite #2 
           Statesboro Ga 30458 

     Council District 5 (Chance) 
 
 
 
 



 
 

7. Administrative Hearing for alleged Alcohol Violation as pursuant to Chapter 6 of the 
City of Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance: 
Enforcement from the Statesboro Police Department 

                                                             Current Offense                 Violations in the last 5 Years 
 

a)  Hazrat Rehman                               December 8, 2016                        February 13, 2015 
         GR Comrade LLC                           Sale to Underage                         Sale to Underage 
         DBA Main Street Bar & Grill               (2 counts) 
           230 South Main Street 

     Council District 2 (Jones) 
 

b)  Clyde Al Chapman III                    December 8, 2016                  February 13, 2015 
       Gnats Landing of Statesboro           Sale to Underage                     Sale to Underage 
        470 South Main Street                           (2 counts) 
                 Council District 3 (Yawn) 
 

c)  Ramiro Melendez                           December 8, 2016                  February 21, 2015 
     Boro Mexican Foods LLC              Sale to Underage                   Exceeded the legal 
     DBA El Jalapeno Mexican Restaurant    (2 counts)              occupancy load 

           711 South Main Street 
                 Council District 2 (Jones) 
 

           d)  Farid Gharachorloo                         December 8, 2016                   September 4, 2014 
      GATA 2 LLC                                  Sale to Underage                      Sale to Underage 

    DBA GATA's Sports Bar & Grill       (2 counts)                                                                
                67 Gata Drive                                                                                 September 11, 2015 
                Council District 4 (Riggs)                                                              Sale to Underage 
                               
                                                                                                                       September 20, 2015 
                                                                                                                       Sale to Underage 
 

e)  Greg Cyrier                                    December 8, 2016                           None 
                 BRG Beverages LLC                     Sale to Underage 
        Chili's Bar & Grill                                (2 counts) 
         435 Commerce Drive 
                 Council District 5 (Chance) 
 

f)  Roger Collier                                  December 8, 2016                  March 28, 2013 
                 Ruby Tuesday                                 Sale to Underage                   Sale to Underage 

     195 Northside Drive East                 (2 counts)                              
                 Council District 5 (Chance)                                                          August 22, 2013 
                                                                                                                        Sale to underage 
    
                                                                                                                     September 11, 2014                  
                                                                                                                     Sale to Underage     
 
       



 
 

 
8. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # V 16-11-

03: Monarch 301 Apartments LLC requests a variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) 
Table 3 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance regarding the maximum square footage and 
maximum height allowed for a monument sign to be installed at 816 South Main Street 
(Tax Parcel MS52 000026 000). 
 

9. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # RZ 16-
12-01: Home Land Auto Group requests a zoning map amendment for 1.5 acres of 
property located at 2538 Northside Drive West from CR (Commercial Retail) zoning 
district to HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) zoning district to permit a retail used 
automobile dealership (Tax Parcel # S17 000008 000). 
 

10. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # SE 16-10-
07: Vaden of Statesboro, Inc. requests a special exception to utilize the property at 600 
Brannen Street as a parking lot for automobile sales inventory within the CR 
(Commercial Retail) zoning district (Tax Parcel S53 000059 000). 
 

11. Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2017-02: A Resolution to appoint 
Russel Rosengart to the Statesboro Planning Commission for a two year term. 
 

12. Public Hearing and First Reading of Ordinance 2017-01: An Ordinance amending 
Chapter 6 of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances (Alcoholic Beverages). 
 

13. Consideration of a Motion to approve an agreement with Hines and Associates Inc. for 
utilization review services and other services for the management of health care claims of 
group members at the rate of $2.05/employee per month.  

  
14. Consideration of a Motion to approve an agreement with Optum Inc. for managed 

transplant program services per employee at the rate of  $4.87/single and $11.69/family 
per month.  

 
15. Consideration of a Motion to approve the statement of rates with Taylor Benefit Resource 

and authorize the Mayor to execute an agreement with Cabot Inc. for stop-loss insurance 
coverage management services per employee at the rate of $64.43/single and 
$173.25/family per month.  

 
16. Consideration of a Motion to Approve award of contract to the low bidder, Hawk 

Construction, for the "2016-11 Storm water Shelter" project in the amount of 
$162,890.00.  This project, STM-9, will be funded by Storm water Fund revenues. 
 

17. Consideration of a Motion to Award the purchase of a cab and chassis truck to Allan 
Vigil Ford per the State of GA contract in the amount of $29,850.00. This item is funded 
under CIP# Eng-STS-90 in the amount of $40,000 and will be initially paid for using the 
GMA Lease Pool.  

 
 



 
 

18. Consideration of a Motion to Approve the Mayor to sign a contract in the amount of 
$23,141.75 (paid over a three year period) to reimburse Bulloch County for the expense 
of adding high-resolution aerial photography for the City of Statesboro to the already 
contracted low-resolution project being done County-wide. Although this contract will be 
with Bulloch County, the County has contracted with Pictometry International 
Corporation. If approved, this expense will be funded from the operational budgets of 
City Departments utilizing this product. 

 
19. Other Business from City Council 

 
20. City Managers Comments 

A) Update on the Personnel Policy 
B) Update on the Police Chief search  

 
21. Public Comments (General) 

 
22. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
Council Minutes 

December 06, 2016 

 
A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on December 6th, 2016 at 9:00a.m. in 
the Council Chambers at City Hall. Present were Mayor Jan J. Moore, Council Members: Phil 
Boyum, Sam Lee Jones, Jeff Yawn, John Riggs and Travis Chance.  Also present were City 
Manager Randy Wetmore, Deputy City Manager Robert Cheshire, City Clerk Sue Starling,  City 
Attorney Alvin Leaphart and City Attorney Cain Smith.    
The meeting was called to Order by Mayor Jan J. Moore 
 
The Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance was given by Mayor Jan Moore 
 
Recognitions/Public Presentations  

A) Presentation from Marlethia Lawrence, FEMA Crisis Counselor at Pineland 
BHDD 

Ms. Lawrence stated the program is to help people in the community that were affected by 
Hurricane Matthew. 
 
Public Comments (Agenda Item): None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
 

Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded y Councilman Riggs to approve the consent agenda 
for the Council minutes of November 15, 2016. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and 
Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Approve a Resolution to Change the name of the Veterans 
Administration Clinic in Statesboro to the Ray Hendrix Clinic 
 
Bob Marsh representing the local Veterans spoke regarding how Mr. Hendrix diligently pursued 
the quest to get a Veterans Clinic in Statesboro. Several members of the family as well as other 
Veterans were present. 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded y Councilman Riggs to approve a Resolution to 
Change the name of the Veterans Administration Clinic in Statesboro to the Ray Hendrix Clinic. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
. 
 
 
 



 
 

Administrative Hearing for alleged alcohol violation as pursuant to Chapter 6 of the City of 
Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance: 
           Enforcement from the Statesboro Police Department: 
                                                                     Current Offense             Violations last 5 Years   
                      
            a)  Kunal Patel                           November 2, 2016                  September 12, 2014 
         Reema Inc                         Sale to Underage      Dept. of Revenue, Sale to Underage 
        DBA Dixie Food Store 
          1495 Northside Drive East 
       

b) Clint Crews                  November 2, 2016   March 28, 2013 
          Walgreen Co                         Sale to Underage                     SPD, Sale to Underage 
                  DBA Walgreens #09257                          January 22, 2015 
                  613 Northside Drive East                             SPD, Sale to Underage 
 

c)  Annette Jones     November 2, 2016             August 07, 2013 
          Wal Mart Stores East LP      Sale to Underage              SPD, Sale to Underage 
         DBA Wal Mart #754 
                147 Northside Drive East 
 

d) Clyde Woolard         November 2, 2016                  August 20, 2014 
                Coastal Area Stores Inc. Sale to Underage   Dept. of Revenue, Sale to Underage 
                DBA Clyde’s Market #76                March 03, 2016  
                17874 Fair Road                                 SPD, Sale to Underage 
 
City Attorney Alvin Leaphart explained how the hearings would be administered. Mr. Leaphart 
explained if the petitioner and respondent admit and agree to the violation, the respondent would 
sign a consent order and waive their right for a hearing. 
 
Interim Police Chief Rob Bryan presented the consent order on the Dixie Food Store with a 
recommendation of 7 days suspension, probation for 6 months and the condition of that 
probation is that the licensee shall remain in full and strict compliance with Chapter of Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Statesboro as well as ensuring all employees who may sell alcohol 
have completed TIPS training, any alcohol server training approved by the City Council before 
2/8/17 and new employees hired during the probation within 30 days of hiring. 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to accept the 
recommendations for the penalty of the violation. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and 
Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Interim Police Chief Rob Bryan presented the consent order for Walgrens with a 
recommendation of 15 days suspension, probation for 1 year and the condition of that probation 
is that the licensee shall remain in full and strict compliance with Chapter of Code of Ordinances 
of the City of Statesboro as well as ensuring all employees who may sell alcohol have completed 
TIPS training, any alcohol server training approved by the City Council before 2/8/17 and new 
employees hired during the probation within 30 days of hiring. 



 
 

Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to accept the 
recommendations for the penalty of the violation. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and 
Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Interim Police Chief Rob Bryan presented the consent order for Wal-Mart with a 
recommendation of 7 days suspension, probation for 6 months and the condition of that 
probation is that the licensee shall remain in full and strict compliance with Chapter of Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Statesboro as well as ensuring all employees who may sell alcohol 
have completed TIPS training, any alcohol server training approved by the City Council before 
2/8/17 and new employees hired during the probation within 30 days of hiring. 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to accept the 
recommendations for the penalty of the violation. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and 
Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Interim Police Chief Rob Bryan presented the consent order for Clyde’s with a recommendation 
of 15 days suspension, probation for 1 year and the condition of that probation is that the licensee 
shall remain in full and strict compliance with Chapter of Code of Ordinances of the City of 
Statesboro as well as ensuring all employees who may sell alcohol have completed TIPS 
training, any alcohol server training approved by the City Council before 2/8/17 and new 
employees hired during the probation within 30 days of hiring. 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to accept the 
recommendations for the penalty of the violation. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and 
Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Approve an Alcohol Catering License Application: 
They currently have an Alcohol License for Retail Liquor, Beer and Wine by the Drink. 

 A) 40 East Grill 
            Woody Pumphrey 
                  40 East Main Street 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to open the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
No one spoke for or against the request.  
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve an Alcohol 
Catering License Application for 40 East Grill. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and 
Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing and Second Reading for Consideration of a Motion to Approve Ordinance 
2016-12: An Ordinance amending Chapter 42 of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances (Fire 
Protection and Prevention).  
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to open the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 



 
 

No one spoke for or against the request. 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve Ordinance 2016-
12: An Ordinance amending Chapter 42 of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances (Fire Protection 
and Prevention). Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to award the purchase of 7 Ford Police Interceptor SUVs to 
Allan Vigil Ford per the Georgia State Contract in the amount of $199,605.00, the unit 
price of the vehicle is $26,680.00 plus an additional $1,835.00 for an extended warranty (7 
Year/ 100,000 miles). The funding from this purchase comes from funds approved in the 
FY 2013 SPLOST.  
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to award the purchase of 7 
Ford Police Interceptor SUVs to Allan Vigil Ford per the Georgia State Contract in the amount 
of $199,605.00, the unit price of the vehicle is $26,680.00 plus an additional $1,835.00 for an 
extended warranty (7 Year/ 100,000 miles). The funding from this purchase comes from funds 
approved in the FY 2013 SPLOST. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted 
in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to award the purchase of 7 4RE in car video camera systems to 
Watch Guard in the amount of $36,970.00, as a sole source purchase.  The funding from 
this purchase comes from funds approved in the FY 2013 SPLOST in the amount of 
$32,203.94 and $4,766.06 coming from the Seized Fund Account. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to award the purchase of 7 
4RE in car video camera systems to Watch Guard in the amount of $36,970.00, as a sole source 
purchase.  The funding from this purchase comes from funds approved in the FY 2013 SPLOST 
in the amount of $32,203.94 and $4,766.06 coming from the Seized Fund Account. Councilman 
Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 
5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to award the up fitting the 7 Ford Police Interceptor SUVs to 
West Chatham Warning Devices in the amount of $59,350.06 for $8,478.58 per unit.  The 
equipment will be installed by the City shop at an estimated cost of $8,841.00. The funding 
from this purchase comes from funds approved in the FY 2013 SPLOST. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to award the up fitting the 7 
Ford Police Interceptor SUVs to West Chatham Warning Devices in the amount of $59,350.06 
for $8,478.58 per unit.  The equipment will be installed by the City shop at an estimated cost of 
$8,841.00. The funding from this purchase comes from funds approved in the FY 2013 SPLOST. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 



 
 

Consideration of a motion to approve the Certified Officer Hiring Bonus (COHB) and 
Military Service Bonus (MSB) proposals for newly hired officers of the Statesboro Police 
Department.  This proposal will be tested and evaluated in a pilot program that will expire 
at the end of FY 2018.   
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to approve the Certified 
Officer Hiring Bonus (COHB) and Military Service Bonus (MSB) proposals for newly hired 
officers of the Statesboro Police Department.  This proposal will be tested and evaluated in a 
pilot program that will expire at the end of FY 2018.  Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs 
and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between 
the City of Statesboro, DCA and the DSDA for the 2017 Georgia Classic Main Streets 
Program. 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve a Memorandum 
of Understanding (MOU) between the City of Statesboro, DCA and the DSDA for the 2017 
Georgia Classic Main Streets Program. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance 
voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the purchase of a Case IH Farmall 75C Tractor from 
AimTrac in the amount of $36,500.00. This tractor is budgeted under CIP#ENG-STS-111 
in the amount of $45,000.00 and is funded by the GMA Lease Pool with payments from the 
general fund. 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve the purchase of 
a Case IH Farmall 75C Tractor from AimTrac in the amount of $36,500.00. This tractor is 
budgeted under CIP#ENG-STS-111 in the amount of $45,000.00 and is funded by the GMA 
Lease Pool with payments from the general fund. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and 
Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a motion to approve a Governmental Pole Attachment License Agreement 
with Georgia Power Company, and a Special Encroachment Permit Application to the 
Georgia Department of Transportation, so that the City may attach "Blue Mile" banners 
to Georgia Power poles along South Main Street from East Vine Street to Tillman Street. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve a Governmental 
Pole Attachment License Agreement with Georgia Power Company, and a Special 
Encroachment Permit Application to the Georgia Department of Transportation, so that the City 
may attach "Blue Mile" banners to Georgia Power poles along South Main Street from East Vine 
Street to Tillman Street. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of 
the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2016-42: A Resolution Amending the 
Rules and Regulations Governing Water and Sewer Utility Procedures.  
 
Councilman Jones made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve Resolution 2016-
42: A Resolution Amending the Rules and Regulations Governing Water and Sewer Utility 
Procedures. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. 
The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
 Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2016-43: A Resolution to appoint Carlos 
C. Brown, Jr. to the Statesboro Planning Commission for a four year term. 
 
Councilman Jones made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve Resolution 2016-
43: A Resolution to appoint Carlos C. Brown, Jr. to the Statesboro Planning Commission for a 
four year term. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2016-44: A Resolution to appoint Mary 
Foreman to the Statesboro Planning Commission for a four year term. 
 
Councilman Jones made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve Resolution 2016-
44: A Resolution to appoint Mary Foreman to the Statesboro Planning Commission for a four 
year term. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. 
The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the employment contract between the Mayor and 
City Council and I Cain Smith as the new City Attorney.  
 
Councilman Jones made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve the employment 
contract between the Mayor and City Council and I Cain Smith as the new City Attorney. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Other Business from City Council 
 
Councilman John Riggs shared his experience on his trip to Italy. 
 
City Managers Comments 

A) Discussion of proposed changes to Chapter 6 (Alcohol Ordinance 
B) Update on City of Statesboro Personnel Policy 

 
Director of Planning and Zoning Frank Neal discussed changing the zoning requirements for 
distance regarding the application of an alcohol license.  
 
Director of Human Resource Jeff Grant updated Council on the revised Personnel Policy. The 
new policy prepares to be implemented sometime in January. 
 
   



 
 

Public Comments (General) 
A) John Hunter request to comment on animal control 
B) Yantii Johnson request to comment on transportation in the City  

 
 John Hunter, who lives at 103 Green Street, asked Council to help with neighbors cats. He stated 
he does not want the cats to come on his property. 
 
Yantii Johnson asked Council to look into a transportation system for Statesboro for those people 
who are legally blind or need assistance to get to their destination. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Potential Litigation” 
in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 
At 10:55 am, Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Council Riggs to enter into 
Executive Session to discuss “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 
(2012). Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The 
motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
At 11:15 am, Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to exit 
Executive Session. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Mayor Moore called the regular meeting back to order with no action being taken in Executive 
Session. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to adjourn the meeting. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 11:15 am 
 
 



RESOLUTION 2017-01: A RESOLUTION TO FIX AND PUBLISH QUALIFYING 
FEES FOR THE CITY OF STATESBORO NOVEMBER 7, 2017 GENERAL 
ELECTION 
 
 
 

WHEREAS, a general election will be held in the City of Statesboro on 
November 7, 2017 for the purpose of electing a Mayor, a District 1 Council Member, and 
a District 4 Council Member, all to serve four year terms; and, 
 

WHEREAS, O.C.G.A. 21-2-131 requires the governing body to fix and publish 
the qualifying fee by February 1st of the election year; and, 
 

WHEREAS, O.C.G.A. 21-2-131 requires the qualifying fee to be set at 3% of the 
annual salary of the office; 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and Council of the City 
of Statesboro as follows: 

 
Section 1. As required by O.C.G.A. 21-2-131, the qualifying fee for candidates 

for Mayor shall be $560.00. 
 
Section 2.  As required by O.C.G.A. 21-2-131, the qualifying fee for candidates 

for City Council in District 1 and District 4 shall be $227.00. 
 
Section 3.  The qualifying fees for the City of Statesboro November 7, 2017 

General Election shall be published in the Statesboro Herald on Thursday, January 26, 
2017 and Sunday, January 29, 2017. 

 
Adopted this 3rd day of January 2017 
 
      
 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 

____________________________________ 
By:  Jan J. Moore, Mayor 

 
  

 
____________________________________ 

        Attest:  Sue Starling, City Clerk  
 















































 

                                                                               
 
 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 

Robert Cheshire, P.E.,  

Deputy City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum 

Sam Lee Jones 

Jeff Yawn 

John C. Riggs 

Travis L. Chance 

 

 

 

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Candra Teshome, Planning & Development Specialist 

 

Date: December 21, 2016 

 

RE: January 3, 2017 City Council Agenda Item 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Sign Variance Request  

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the requested variance with 

conditions.  

 

Background: Monarch 301 Apartments LLC requests a variance from Article XV 

Section 1509(C) Table 3 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance regarding the 

maximum square footage and maximum height allowed for a monument sign 

to be installed at 816 South Main Street (Tax Parcel MS52 000026 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Jeff Yawn (District 3) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report V 16-11-03



 

 

 

City of Statesboro – Department of Community Development  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

P.O. Box 348     » (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia   30458  » (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

V 16-11-03 

VARIANCE REQUEST 

816 SOUTH MAIN STREET 

LOCATION: 816 South Main Street 

 

REQUEST: 

Variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) 

Table 3 regarding the maximum square 

footage and maximum allowed height for a 

monument sign.  

APPLICANT: Monarch 301 Apartments, LLC 

OWNER(S): Monarch 301 Apartments, LLC 

ACRES: 10.01 acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
MS52 000026 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
District 3 (Yawn) 

   

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant requests a variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 3 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 

regarding the maximum square footage and the maximum allowed height for a monument sign. The subject site is 
zoned R4 (High Density Residential District) and located in Sign District 1 (See Exhibit A – Location Map). 

BACKGROUND: 

The subject site was rezoned from CR (Commercial Retail) to R4 (High Density Residential District) on September 7, 
2011 (case number RZ 11-07-02) for the purposes of redevelopment. The site is also subject to a variance to allow 
for 29 dwelling units per acre (case number V 11-07-03), a variance to allow for a maximum building height of 55 feet 
(case number V 11-07-04) and an administrative variance to allow for 9’ wide parking spaces.  
 
The applicant’s proposal includes one (1) monument sign, which meets regulations, and one (1) monument sign, 
which exceeds the maximum square footage (40 sq. ft.) and the maximum height (6 feet) requirements for Sign 
District 1 (See Exhibit B—Site Photos).  

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) and 
CR (Commercial Retail) 

Various commercial uses. 

SOUTH: CR (Commercial Retail) and EXPT (Exempt) Various commercial uses and GSU campus. 

EAST: Exempt GSU campus. 

WEST HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) and R4 
(High Density Residential District) 

Various commercial uses; high density apartment complexes. 

The ten acre subject site is adjacent to the campus of Georgia Southern University and in proximity to several other 
student-oriented apartment complexes (The Woodlands, The Forum, and The Varsity) and several retail, restaurants, 
and other commercial establishments.  It is also within walking distance of the Downtown Statesboro Development 
Authority’s downtown district. 



 

Page 2 of 13 
 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # V 16-11-03 

Updated December 21, 2016 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

Vision 

Currently dominated by auto-oriented design and large surface parking lots, the Activity Centers/Regional Centers will 

evolve into pedestrian-oriented shopping, office, and entertainment places that may also accommodate high-density 

residential development. Where excess parking is located, infill development can break up large surface lots. Tree 

plantings and landscaping will be generous to soften the development intensity in these areas. Access to these 

activity centers will be easily achieved for pedestrians, cyclists, and drivers alike (See Exhibit C—Future 

Development Map). 

Some appropriate land uses for the “Activity Centers/Regional Centers” character area include the following: 

• Small, mid-size, and regional retail and commercial, including big box stores.  
• Redeveloped shopping center should be encouraged to include diverse uses and pedestrian-scaled 
elements.  
• Diverse mix of higher density housing types, such as multifamily, town houses, apartments, lofts, and 
condos.  
• Entertainment  
• Services  
• Employment Centers  
• Office  
• Medical  
• Multi-Family 
 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 25. 

In addition, the Future Development Map and Defining Narrative section of the Comprehensive Plan states the 
following:  

“Statesboro residents have expressed dissatisfaction with a variety of features in the community which clutter 
streetscapes and obstruct natural landscape features -particularly on major corridors entering and exiting the 
community. While City leadership has acknowledged the need to comprehensively update land development 
regulations to holistically address aesthetic concerns, there exist a number of individual topics which can be 
addressed by ordinance amendments in the short-term. Signs (attached and detached) should be managed by 
incorporating uniform design features, and by restricting billboards and other off-premise signage which 
distract from traffic control signage and compete with local and other on-site businesses.” 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 11. 

ANALYSIS: 

I. Variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 3: Sign District 1 Dimensional Standards to permit 
an increase in the maximum height and maximum square footage for one (1) monument sign.  

 
The applicant is requesting a variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 3 regarding the maximum height for one 
(1) monument sign (See Exhibit D—Proposed Signage Plans). The subject site is located in the R4 (High Density 
Residential District) zoning district and is regulated by the dimensional standards of Sign District 1 (See Exhibit E—

Section 1509(C) Table 3).  
 
The ordinance restricts the height of monument signs to six feet. The applicant’s intention is to increase the maximum 
height of one (1) monument sign on South Main Street from the permissible 6’ to 11’ 6”, a 5’ 6” increase. In addition, the 
applicant would like to increase the maximum sign area, for the same sign, from the permissible 40 square feet to 57’ 
4”, a 17’ 4” increase.  
 
This portion of South Main Street contains five (5) lanes—one (1) two-way left turn center lane and two (2) lanes in 
each direction—with a speed limit of 35 miles per hour. Staff conducted a site visit on November 28, 2016 and 
determined the speed at which traffic moves and other signage along the corridor might have a negative impact on 
the sign’s visibility. 

Section 1503(G) states that no variances shall be permitted from the terms of Article XV regarding signs in the 
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. It continues to state that “Specifically, no variances under article XVIII of this ordinance 
[chapter] shall be applicable to the standards contained within this article.” However, Article XV regarding signs is part 
of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance, which provides for the award of variances by the City Council from the zoning 
regulations stating that “approval of a variance must be in the public interest, the spirit of the ordinance must be 



 

Page 3 of 13 
 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # V 16-11-03 

Updated December 21, 2016 

observed, public safety and welfare secured, and substantial justice done” and Section 1801 states that the Mayor 
and Council [should] consider if the following are true in its consideration of a variance request: 

1. There are special conditions pertaining to the land or structure in question because of its size, 
shape, topography, or other physical characteristic and that condition is not common to other 
land or buildings in the general vicinity or in the same zoning district; 
 

2. The special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions of the applicant; 

 
3. The application of the ordinance to this particular piece of property would create an 

unnecessary hardship; and 
 

4. Relief, if granted, would not cause substantial detriment to the public good or impair the 
purposes and intent of the zoning regulations. 

 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Staff recommends approval of the variance requested by application V 16-11-03.  

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

At its regularly scheduled meeting on December 6, 2016, the Planning Commission voted 5 to 0 to approve the 

request with the following condition: 

1. The applicant must submit a surveyed site plan that depicts the minimum required setbacks (5’) for a 
monument sign in Sign District 1 (See Exhibit F—Site Survey). 

Additional Staff Recommendation: 

2. Staff recommends approval of the request on the condition the sign does not create any site distance 
issues.   

 

  



 

Page 4 of 13 
 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # V 16-11-03 

Updated December 21, 2016 

EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 
 

 

 



 

Page 5 of 13 
 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # V 16-11-03 

Updated December 21, 2016 

EXHIBIT B: SITE PHOTOS 

 

Picture 1 Approximate Proposed Location of Monument Sign (in background near yield sign) in Background Facing 

Northeast on South Main Street  

 
Picture 2 South Main Street Facing Northwest Depicting Potential for Traffic Approaching Proposed Sign 

 

 



 

Page 6 of 13 
 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # V 16-11-03 

Updated December 21, 2016 

 

EXHIBIT B: SITE PHOTOS 

 

Picture 3 Intersection Depicting Proposed Location of Sign Facing Northeast on South Main Street  

 
Picture 4 Intersection Depicting Proposed Location of Sign on Facing Northwest on South Main Street  

 

 



 

Page 7 of 13 
 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # V 16-11-03 

Updated December 21, 2016 

 

EXHIBIT C: FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP

 

 

 



 

Page 8 of 13 
 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # V 16-11-03 

Updated December 21, 2016 

 

EXHIBIT D: PROPOSED SIGNAGE PLANS 

 

  



 

Page 9 of 13 
 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # V 16-11-03 

Updated December 21, 2016 

EXHIBIT D: PROPOSED SIGNAGE PLANS (CONT) 

 

  



 

Page 10 of 13 
 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # V 16-11-03 

Updated December 21, 2016 

EXHIBIT D: PROPOSED SIGNAGE PLANS (CONT) 

  



 

Page 11 of 13 
 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # V 16-11-03 

Updated December 21, 2016 

EXHIBIT E: SECTION 1509(C) TABLE 3 

 

  



 

Page 12 of 13 
 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # V 16-11-03 

Updated December 21, 2016 

EXHIBIT F: SITE SURVEY  

 

  



 

Page 13 of 13 
 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # V 16-11-03 

Updated December 21, 2016 

EXHIBIT F: SITE PLAN (CONT) 

 

 



 

                                                                               
 
 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 

Robert Cheshire, P.E.,  

Deputy City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum 

Sam Lee Jones 

Jeff Yawn 

John C. Riggs 

Travis L. Chance 

 

 

 

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Candra Teshome, Planning & Development Specialist 

 

Date: December 21, 2016 

 

RE: January 3, 2017 City Council Agenda Item 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Zoning Map Amendment Request  

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the requested zoning map 

amendment with conditions.  

 

Background: Home Land Auto Group requests a zoning map amendment for 

1.5 acres of property located at 2538 Northside Drive West from CR (Commercial 

Retail) zoning district to HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) zoning district to 

permit a retail used automobile dealership (Tax Parcel # S17 000008 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Sam Lee Jones (District 2) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report RZ 16-12-01



 
 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 

RZ 16-12-01 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT REQUEST 

2538 Northside Drive West  

LOCATION: 2538 Northside Drive West 

 

REQUEST: 

Rezone from CR (Commercial Retail) to HOC 

(Highway Oriented Commercial) to permit use 

of the parcel as a used car dealership.  

APPLICANT: Home Land Auto Group 

OWNER(S): F. Barry Hodges, III & James W. Pilcher, Jr. 

ACRES: 1.5 acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
S17 000008 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
2 (Jones) 

   

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant is requesting a zoning map amendment for one (1) 1.5 acre parcel from CR (Commercial Retail) to HOC 
(Highway Oriented Commercial) to permit a used automobile dealership (See Exhibit A – Location Map). 

BACKGROUND:   

The subject parcel is located at 2538 Northside Drive West (tax parcel S17 000008 000). The parcel currently 
contains one (1) vacant building.  

SURROUNDING ZONING/LAND USES: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: CR (Commercial Retail) Miscellaneous sales and service and repair shops 

SOUTH: HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) Retail facilities and personal services facilities 

EAST: HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) Service and repair shops, used car and truck sales and 
food service facilities 

WEST CR (Commercial Retail) Retail facilities 

 

Properties to the north and east are predominantly miscellaneous sales and auto service and repair shops, while 
properties to the south and west include retail and personal service facilities. The subject site is surrounded by a 
range of uses including the Walgreen’s Pharmacy, Boyd’s Pit Bar-B-Q, AutoZone and Jarrard Pre-owned Vehicles 
and is adjacent to the new Family Dollar   (See EXHIBIT B—Photos of Subject Site and Surrounding Area). 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 2 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 16-12-01 
November 29, 2016 
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “Commercial Redevelopment” character area, although it is on the border of the 
“Downtown” and “Established Residential Neighborhood” character areas, as identified by the City of Statesboro 
2014 Future Development Map (See EXHIBIT C—2014 Future Development Map) within the City of Statesboro 
Updated 2014 Comprehensive Plan.  

 
Vision:  

The Commercial Redevelopment areas are currently in decline with vacant or underutilized properties. These areas 
are characterized by a high degree of access by vehicular traffic; onsite parking; and a low degree of open space. It is 
the desire of the community to identify and target these areas for redevelopment and investment, thus returning these 
areas to their intended state of a thriving commercial and/or mixed use district. 
 

Suggested Development & Implementation Strategies 

 Redevelopment of older commercial centers in lieu of new construction further down the corridor. 

 Infill development on vacant sites closer in to the center of community. These sites, with existing 
infrastructure in place, are used for new development, matching character of surrounding 

 Driveway consolidation and inter-parcel connections between parking lots. 
 

Statesboro Updated 2015 Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda page 27. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION: 

The subject property is currently serviced by city utilities, sanitation, and public safety.  No significant impact is expected 
on community facilities or services as a result of this request. The subject site contains a narrow portion that meets 
Northside Drive West, which is insufficient for the development of a driveway that services this parcel. Consequently, 
the applicant with work with Family Dollar to gain cross access to a newly constructed driveway (See Exhibit D—

Family Dollar Site Plan). 

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and are not located in a special flood hazard area. Any environmental 
issues will be addressed during the permitting phase.  

ANALYSIS: 

Whether a zoning map amendment requested by applications RZ 16-12-01 should be granted to allow the 
site to develop as a commercial automobile dealership.  

“Automobile and allied sales and services: service stations and repair shops, used car and truck sales, automotive 
parts and accessories, new car and truck sales, boat and marine sales, trailer and mobile home sales, heavy 
equipment and/or farm implement sales, and shops” are listed permissible uses allowable by right only within the 
HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) zoning district. The subject site requesting the use of automobile sales is 
zoned CR (Commercial Retail). Automobile and allied sales and services is not a permissible use by right for the 
subject site under its current zoning designation.  
 
Current Zoning Compared to Requested Zoning 

Commercial Retail Districts allow for general retail, wholesale, office, and personal service establishments and health 
care uses. This district allows for more intense and less dense development, but allows for uses that are not as 
automobile dependent as the Highway Oriented Commercial district, in which the principal use of land is for 
establishments offering accommodations and supplies or services to motorists and the traveling public and require 
more land area. 

The CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district for the City of Statesboro is generally considered to be appropriate for 
commercial development that is more compact in density, but likely higher in intensity of use, than those uses 
permitted within the HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) district. The HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) district, 
therefore, requires deeper setbacks and larger minimum lot sizes than the CR district. Furthermore, the purpose 
statement for the HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) district specifically states that HOC (Highway Oriented 
Commercial) zones should be located along major thoroughfares and should be maintained for those uses “not 
encouraged in commercial retail areas.” Therefore, it is the recommendation of staff that adjusting the zoning of the 
subject site to HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) in order to permit the desired use would be appropriate for this 
parcel given its location and the surrounding character and context. 
 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 3 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 16-12-01 
November 29, 2016 
 

The request to rezone the 1.5 acre parcel from CR (Commercial Retail) district to HOC (Highway Oriented 
Commercial) district should be considered in light of the standards for determination of zoning map amendments 
given in Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance; the vision and community policies articulated within the 
city’s two (2) primary land use policies: The Statesboro Comprehensive Plan and the 2035 Bulloch County/City of 
Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan; and the potential for the property to develop in conformance with the 
requirements of the proposed HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) zoning district as set forth in the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance.  

Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and City Council 
to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment and “balancing the 
promotions of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the right of 
unrestricted use of property.” Those standards are numbered below 1-8.  Staff findings regarding some of 
the factors are given for Council’s consideration of the application: 

(1) Existing uses and zoning or (of) property nearby; 

 Adjacent and nearby zones are mixed use and include Commercial Retail and Highway Oriented 
Commercial. Despite the surrounding zoning districts and that a rezone to Highway Oriented 
Commercial would create a spot-zoned parcel; many of the nearby uses are designed to provide 
services to the traveling public.  

 Staff suggests that a zoning map amendment would be appropriate in this case if Council were to 
make a finding that the area around the subject site is changing or has transitioned since the 
property was zoned Commercial Retail (most likely in 1977) and that the requested rezone would 
be appropriate for present conditions and the projected future needs of the City. In addition, the 
surrounding area includes HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) zoned parcels.  
 

(2) The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions. 
(3) The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the health, 

safety, morals or general welfare of the public. 
(4) The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner. 
(5) The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes. 

 The HOC zoning district requires 20,000 square feet in lot size per structure. This lot exceeds the 
requirement at 65,340 square feet and can be developed in accordance with the requirements of 
the HOC zoning district.  

(6) The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 
development in the area in the vicinity of the property. 

(7) The extent the proposed change would impact the following:  population density in the area; 
community facilities; living conditions in the area; traffic patterns and congestion; environmental 
aspects; existing and future land use patterns; property values in adjacent areas; 

(8) Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation, and development plans for the 
community. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:    

Staff recommends approval of the requested zoning map amendment as it is a reasonable finding of fact that the 
conditions surrounding the subject site have changed since the (CR) Commercial Retail zoning in 1977. Furthermore, 
the property can be developed in conformance with the requested HOC zoning district and the proposal is consistent 
with the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan. Staff recommends the following condition: 

1. A new site and building plan must be submitted to meet all ordinance requirements, including tree ordinance 
and building ordinance prior to a certificate of occupancy being issued for the location. 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:  

At its regularly scheduled meeting on December 6, 2016, the Planning Commission voted 5 to 0 to approve the request 
with the following condition:  

1. A new site and building plan must be submitted to meet all ordinance requirements, including tree ordinance 
and building ordinance prior to a certificate of occupancy being issued for the location. 

 

 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 4 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 16-12-01 
November 29, 2016 
 

EXHIBIT A: LOCATION MAP 

 

 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 5 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 16-12-01 
November 29, 2016 
 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING AREA 

 

Picture 1 Subject Site Facing West Depicting the New Family Dollar 

 

Picture 2 Subject Site Facing East Depicting the Vacant Structure on the Lot 

 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 6 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 16-12-01 
November 29, 2016 
 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING AREA (CONT) 

 

 
 

Picture 3 Photo from Family Dollar Parcel Depicting Subject Site and Shared Driveway Facing East 

 

 

Picture 4 Family Dollar Parcel Facing West on Northside Drive East Depicting Four-Lane Highway and AutoZone 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 7 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 16-12-01 
November 29, 2016 
 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING AREA (CONT) 

 

 
Picture 5 Family Dollar Parcel Depicting Recently Constructed Driveway and Family Dollar Property Line with Cross 

Access in Far Right Corner 

 

Picture 6 Subject Site Showing Rear End of Parking Lot 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 8 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 16-12-01 
November 29, 2016 
 

EXHIBIT C: CITY OF STATESBORO 2014 FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 

 

 

  



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 9 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 16-12-01 
November 29, 2016 
 

EXHIBIT C: FAMILY DOLLAR SITE PLAN 

 

 

 

 



 

                                                                               
 
 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 

Robert Cheshire, P.E.,  

Deputy City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum 

Sam Lee Jones 

Jeff Yawn 

John C. Riggs 

Travis L. Chance 

 

 

 

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Candra Teshome, Planning & Development Specialist 

 

Date: December 21, 2016 

 

RE: January 3, 2017 City Council Agenda Item 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Special Exception Request  

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the requested special 

exception with conditions.  

 

Background: Vaden of Statesboro, Inc. requests a special exception to utilize 

the property at 600 Brannen Street as a parking lot for automobile sales 

inventory within the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district (Tax Parcel S53 000059 

000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Travis Chance (District 5) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report SE 16-10-07



 

 

 

 

 

City of Statesboro – Department of Community Development  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

P.O. Box 348     » (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia   30458  » (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

SE 16-10-07 

SPECIAL EXCEPTION REQUEST 

600 Brannen Street 

LOCATION: 600 Brannen Street 

 

REQUEST: 

Special Exception to use the subject site as a 

parking lot for automobile sales inventory 

within the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning 

district. 

APPLICANT: Vaden Nissan 

OWNER(S): James M. Hull, etal 

LAND AREA: 8.48 acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #s: 
S53 000059 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
District 5 (Chance) 

   

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant requests a special exception to allow for the utilization of the property located at 600 Brannen Street 
(Gentilly Square) as a parking lot for automobile sales inventory (tax parcel S53 000059 000). “Automotive and allied 
sales and services” is a permissible use by right only within the HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) zoning district 
and the site is zoned CR (Commercial Retail) (See Exhibit A – Location Map). The applicant’s desired utilization of the 

property is not permitted without either the rezoning of the property to HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) or the 
grant of a special exception permitting the requested use.   

BACKGROUND: 

In 2011, the applicant requested a special exception for auto sales in a CR (Commercial Retail) district at 686 
Brannen Street, which City Council approved, with conditions, on October 4, 2011. Condition number three (3) of the 
judgment letter dated October 10, 2013 for case SE 11-08-04 states the applicant will construct and dedicate a street, 
with a 60’ right of way, to the City of Statesboro (See Exhibit B—SE 11-08-04 Judgment Letter and Exhibit C—

Warranty Deed). At this time, the applicant’s inventory clearly exceeds the applicant’s space, causing the parking of  
vehicles on unpaved surfaces at the Vaden Nissan dealership and on Vaden Way, the street deeded to the City of 
Statesboro, during the day (See Exhibit D—Vehicles Parked on Vaden Way and Unpaved Surfaces).  

 
The applicant’s inventory has outgrown the dealership and the applicant executed a lease May 2, 2016 with El 
Sombrero LLC to park overflow vehicles on an unpaved lot at 0 Brannen Street (tax parcel MS84000100 005); 
however, the applicant began parking vehicles at the location as early as March 2016, without notifying the City (See 
Exhibit E—El Sombrero Lease Agreement and See Exhibit F—Photos of Inventory Parked at 0 Brannen Street). In 

April 2016, the applicant submitted a special exception application for 0 Brannen Street. The applicant did not intend 
to improve the subject site’s surface to meet the minimum requirements of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. 
Consequently, staff did not feel it appropriate to approve a special exception for an unpaved lot in violation of Article 
XVI Section 1601(f)(1) of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance, and advised the applicant that staff could not recommend 
approval of the request, but that a compromise through the issuance of a Notice of Violation allowing parking for 90 
days was an option (See Exhibit G—Email Detailing a Compromise). The applicant decided, after speaking with 

staff, that the withdrawal of the application and the issuance of a Notice of Violation were acceptable. 



 

Page 2 of 27 

 

 
Notice of Violation #0618 was issued May 26, 2016 with an expiration date of August 31, 2016 (See Exhibit H—

Notice of Violation #0618). On July 25, 2016, the applicant requested an additional thirty (30) days for Notice of 
Violation #0618 through September 30, 2016, which staff granted. On September 27, 2016, staff met with the 
applicant to discuss options, at which time, the applicant requested an additional extension through October 28, 
2016. 
 
The applicant executed a lease agreement with James M. Hull & Bert Storey for the property located at 600 Brannen 
Street (Gentilly Square) on October 24, 2016 for a total of 200 parking spaces (See Exhibit I—Gentilly Square 
Temporary License Agreement, Exhibit J—Gentilly Square Allowed Parking Area Site Plan and Exhibit K—Photos 

of Gentilly Square Parking Lot).  
 
The applicant submitted an application for land disturbing activity for the expansion of the parking lot located at 686 
Brannen Street on April 26, 2016 and received approval from the Georgia Soil and Water Conservation Commission 
on May 5, 2016. The Environmental Protection Division (EPD) approved the applicant’s request for a variance 
regarding encroachment into state waters on or about October 25, 2016 and expects the parking lot expansion to 
begin in November 2016, which will contain the overflow inventory, based on an email dated August 31, 2016. After a 
review of the site plan submitted for the expansion, staff determined the new parking lot can accommodate roughly 
100 vehicles.  
 
As of November 30, 2016, the applicant’s land disturbance permit (contingent on GSWCC approval) had not been 
issued because the applicant had not requested an initial erosion control inspection and, consequently, the 
subsequent building permit for the parking lot expansion also had not been issued.  
 
SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 
 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: CR (Commercial Retail) Personal services facilities 

SOUTH: CR (Commercial Retail)  Undeveloped 

EAST: CR (Commercial Retail) Undeveloped 

WEST O (Office and Business Office District) Personal services facilities 

The subject property is located on Brannen Street, adjacent to a large undeveloped parcel on the south and east. 
Surrounding uses to the north and west include retail establishments, business offices, food service facilities and 
personal service facilities.  

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “Commercial Redevelopment Area #1” character area as identified by the City of 
Statesboro 2014 Future Development Map (See Exhibit K—2014 Future Development Map) within the City of 

Statesboro Updated 2014 Comprehensive Plan.  

Vision:  

The Commercial Redevelopment areas are currently in decline with vacant or underutilized properties. These areas are 
characterized by a high degree of access by vehicular traffic; onsite parking; and a low degree of open space. It is the 
desire of the community to identify and target these areas for redevelopment and investment, thus returning these 
areas to their intended state of a thriving commercial and/or mixed use district. 

Appropriate Land Uses: 

 Major employers 

 Commercial, including big box 

 Medium/High density residential 

 Single-Family residential along arterials 

Statesboro Updated 2015 Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda page 26. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES (EXCEPT TRANSPORTATION): 

The subject site is currently served by city services including water, sewer, sanitation, and public safety. No significant 
impact is expected on city services as a result of this request. 



 

Page 3 of 27 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and is not located in a special flood hazard area. Any potential issues 
will be brought forth and discussed during standard permitting and review procedures. 

ANALYSIS: 

The applicant is requesting a special exception to permit the property to be utilized as a parking lot for automobile 
sales inventory within the CR (Commercial Retail) district. Special exceptions allow for land uses that are not 
permitted by right within a zoning district, but which are defined as an acceptable use type, are of the same general 
character of permissible uses in the district, can meet the specific requirements contained in the ordinance and are 
listed as a special exception in the ordinance. A special exception is not a deviation from the zoning ordinance, but a 
use envisioned by the ordinance and if expressed standards in the ordinance are met (such as development 
requirements), the use is one permitted by the ordinance.   

I. Consideration of the Definition of the Applicant’s Proposed Use and its General Character 

The applicant is requesting the use of the subject site as a parking lot for automobile sales inventory for 
a parcel zoned CR (Commercial Retail). A parking lot is a defined acceptable use and adheres to the 
general character of permissible uses within the CR (Commercial Retail) district; however, the 
applicant’s primary business, which the proposed use will serve, is automobile and allied sales and 
services as defined by Article XI § 1101(c) of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance—a use prohibited in the 

CR (Commercial Retail) district.  

The proposed use will serve as a “satellite” parking lot for automobile sales inventory. As such, the 
proposed use will create additional traffic on the parcel when the applicant shuttles customers and/or 
vehicles to and from the site for the purposes of automobile sales. Consideration should be given to the 
parking lot’s construction, which includes three (3) curb cuts on Gentilly Road and four (4) curb cuts on 
Brannen Street.  The lot includes two (2) major thoroughfares that move traffic onto and off of Gentilly 
Road and Brannen Street.  

II. Consideration of the Proposed Use’s Ability to Adhere to the CR District’s Requirements 

Staff is of the opinion the proposed use will adhere to the district’s requirements.  

III. Consideration of the Proposed Use’s Inclusion in the CR District as a Special Exception 

Article VIII. CBD Central Business District, as referenced by Article X. CR Commercial Retail District, of 
the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance states the following uses are allowed “when authorized as a special 

exception: any use of the same general character as any of the uses herein before specifically 
permitted without requirements of a special exception, and laundry or dry cleaning establishments.” 

The Statesboro Zoning Ordinance permits the grant of a special exception upon a finding by the governing body that 
the requested use is “of the same general character” as those uses permitted within the district without the grant of a 
special exception and requires that “in determining the compatibility of the conditional use with adjacent properties 
and the overall community, the mayor and city council (will) consider the same criteria and guidelines [as for] 
determinations of amendments, as well as the following factors:” 

Section 2406 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance lists seven (7) factors that should be considered by Mayor 
and City Council “in determining compatibility” of the requested use with adjacent properties and the overall 
community for considerations of Conditional Use Variances, or Special Exceptions as follows: 

A. Adequate provision is made by the applicant to reduce any adverse environmental impact of the 
proposed use to an acceptable level. 

B. Vehicular traffic and pedestrian movement on adjacent streets will not be substantially hindered or 
endangered. 

C. Off street parking and loading, and the entrances to and exits from such parking and loading, will be 
adequate in terms of location, amount, and design to serve the use. 

D. Public facilities and utilities are capable of adequately serving the proposed use. 

E. The proposed use will not have significant adverse effect on the level of property values or the general 
character of the area. 

F. Unless otherwise noted, the site plan submitted in support of an approved conditional use shall be 
considered part of the approval and must be followed. 

G. Approval of a proposed use by the mayor and council does not constitute and [an] approval for future 
expansion of or additions or changes to the initially approved operation. Any future phases or changes 
that are considered significant by the planning commission and not included in the original approval are 
subject to the provisions of this section and the review of new detailed plans and reports for said 
alterations by the governing authority. 



 

Page 4 of 27 

 

 This request, if approved, is personal to the applicant. Any future changes to this proposal must be approved 
by City Council. 

 
Additionally, § 2406 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance also requires consideration of the following factors 
given for standards for determination in a zoning change in “balancing the promotions of the public health, 
safety, morality [morals] and general welfare against the right of unrestricted use of property” given in § 2007 
of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance”: 
 

A. Existing uses and zoning or [of] property nearby. 

 Surrounding properties are zoned CR (Commercial Retail) and O (Office and Business Office 
District) and uses range from personal services facilities and undeveloped parcels.  

B. The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions. 

C. The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the health, 
safety, morals or general welfare of the public. 

D. The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner. 

E. The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes. 

 This property can develop in conformity with the zoning regulations set forth by the Statesboro Zoning 
Ordinance and other development regulations of the City of Statesboro. 

F. The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 
development in the area in the vicinity of the property. 

G. The extent the proposed change would impact population density in the area, community facilities, 
living conditions in the area, traffic patterns and congestion, environmental aspects, existing and 
future land use patterns, and property values in adjacent areas. 

 

The applicant is proposing the use of the subject site as an “inventory-only” lot, which may be considered of the same 
general character of “parking lot, not to include automobile junkyards,” which is a use permitted by right within the CR 
(Commercial Retail) district; however, since the CR (Commercial Retail) district prohibits automotive and allied sales 
and services by right, consideration should be given to the use of a parking lot in support of automobile sales.   

Review of this application and subject site in light of the criteria established in 2406 and 2007 finds that the property 
could be developed in accordance with the CR (Commercial Retail) development regulations.  The requested use is 
not anticipated to have a negative impact on the environment, existing or future land use patterns, population 
densities, living conditions, or property values in the area.   

Section 1802 of the Zoning Ordinance of the City of Statesboro, Georgia outlines the qualifications needed to grant a 
special exception to the zoning ordinance.  These include uses that are consistent with the purpose and intent of the 
zoning ordinance and district in which the use is proposed to be located; uses that do not detract from neighboring 
property; and uses that are consistent with other uses in the area.  In order to meet these qualifications, approval of any 
special exception for the proposed use at the subject parcel should (if necessary) include conditions that will ensure that 
proposed uses along this corridor remain consistent with the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan and the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance and that serve to mitigate negative effects of the use to the surrounding area’s character, uses, and 
zones. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Staff recommends approval of the special exception requested by application SE 16-04-01 with the following conditions:  

1. The special exception for the use of the subject site will expire twelve (12) months from the date of approval, if 
granted.  

2. The special exception for the use of the subject site is specific to the applicant and therefore cannot be 
transferred to another individual or entity.  

3. The applicant is limited to parking two hundred (200) vehicles at the location.  

4. The applicant is required to park the vehicles in an orderly manner, within the white striping, which designates 
parking spaces and keep the vehicles off slash marks, which indicate no-parking areas.  

5. The subject site is to be used for new car inventory only. 

  



 

Page 5 of 27 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

At its regularly scheduled meeting on December 6, 2016, the Planning Commission voted 5 to 0 to approve the request 
with the following conditions:  

1. The special exception for the use of the subject site will expire six (6) months from the date of approval, if 
granted.  

2. The special exception for the use of the subject site is specific to the applicant and therefore cannot be 
transferred to another individual or entity.  

3. The applicant is limited to parking one hundred seventy seven (177) vehicles at the location. The applicant is 
required to remove a minimum of 23 vehicles from the aisle located between Ellianos Coffee Company and 
Firehouse Subs as depicted in Exhibit J of the staff report.  

4. The applicant is required to park the vehicles in an orderly manner, within the white striping, which designates 
parking spaces and keep the vehicles off slash marks, which indicate no-parking areas.  

5. The subject site is to be used for new car inventory only. 

6. The applicant is required to erect temporary signage that identifies the vehicles as temporary parking for 
Vaden Nissan inventory.  

 

 

 

  



 

Page 6 of 27 

 

EXHIBIT A: LOCATION MAP 

 

 

 



 

Page 7 of 27 

 

EXHIBIT B: SE 11-08-04 JUDGMENT LETTER 

  



 

Page 8 of 27 

 

EXHIBIT B: SE 11-08-04 JUDGMENT LETTER (CONT) 

 

  



 

Page 9 of 27 

 

EXHIBIT C: WARRANTY DEED 

 

 

  



 

Page 10 of 27 

 

EXHIBIT C: WARRANTY DEED (CONT) 

  



 

Page 11 of 27 

 

EXHIBIT C: WARRANTY DEED (CONT) 

  



 

Page 12 of 27 

 

EXHIBIT D: VEHICLES PARKED ON VADEN WAY AND UNPAVED SURFACES 

 

 

  

 
Picture 1 Vehicles in Dedicated Street and on Unpaved Surfaces Picture 2 Vehicles in Dedicated Street  

Picture 3 Vehicles in Dedicated Street at Stop Bar and on Unpaved Surfaces 



 

Page 13 of 27 

 

EXHIBIT E: LEASE AGREEMENT 

 

 

 



 

Page 14 of 27 

 

 

  



 

Page 15 of 27 

 

 

  



 

Page 16 of 27 

 

 

  



 

Page 17 of 27 

 

  



 

Page 18 of 27 

 

EXHIBIT F: PHOTOS OF INVENTORY PARKED AT 0 BRANNEN STREET 

 

 

 
Photo 1: Subject Site Facing West along Buckhead Drive 

 

 
Photo 2: Subject Site Facing East Depicting one Makeshift Lane 

 



 

Page 19 of 27 

 

EXHIBIT F: PHOTOS OF INVENTORY PARKED AT 0 BRANNEN STREET (CONT) 

 

 
 

Photo 3: Subject Site Facing East 
 
    

 
 

Photo 4: Subject Site Facing West Depicting Adjacent Property Line with Walmart 



 

Page 20 of 27 

 

 
 
EXHIBIT G: EMAIL DETAILING COMPROMISE 

 

  



 

Page 21 of 27 

 

EXHIBIT H: NOTICE OF VIOLATION #0618 

 
  



 

Page 22 of 27 

 

EXHIBIT I: GENTILLY SQUARE TEMPORARY LICENSE AGREEMENT 

 

  



 

Page 23 of 27 

 

EXHIBIT I: GENTILLY SQUARE TEMPORARY LICENSE AGREEMENT (CONT) 

 

  



 

Page 24 of 27 

 

EXHIBIT I: GENTILLY SQUARE TEMPORARY LICENSE AGREEMENT (CONT) 
 

 

  



 

Page 25 of 27 

 

EXHIBIT J: GENTILLY SQUARE ALLOWED PARKING AREA SITE PLAN 
 

 
 
  



 

Page 26 of 27 

 

EXHIBIT K: PHOTOS OF GENTILLY SQUARE PARKING LOT 
 

 
Picture 1 Subject Site Facing West Depicting Curb Cut onto Gentilly Road 

 
Picture 2 Subject Site Facing Northwest Depicting the Rear of Fire House Subs 

  



 

Page 27 of 27 

 

EXHIBIT K: PHOTOS OF GENTILLY SQUARE PARKING LOT (CONT) 

 

Picture 3 Subject Site Facing North Depicting Vehicles Parked in Breach of Contract and on 

Striping  

 
Picture 4 Subject Site Depicting Vaden Employee Shuttling Customer to View Inventory 

 

 

 



RESOLUTION 2017-02 

APPOINTING RUSSELL ROSENGART TO THE STATESBORO PLANNING COMMISSION 

WHEREAS, Section 2- 67 of Chapter 2 of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances states that the membership of 
the Statesboro Planning Commission shall consist of seven members who shall be appointed by the governing 
body. The appointment of members of the planning commission upon the effective date of this division shall 
be as follows: 

(1) Posts 1, 3, 5, and 7 shall be appointed for terms of two years. 
(2) Posts 2, 4, and 6 shall be appointed for terms of four years. 

 

Each successor appointed to the planning commission thereafter shall be appointed for a term of four years,  
may be appointed to two successive terms; and 

WHEREAS, Russell Rosengart has made application for volunteer service to the Statesboro Planning 
Commission to the City of Statesboro; and 

WHEREAS, there is currently a vacancy in Post 1; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council desire to exercise the appointment power provided above; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council agree and affirm that Mr. Rosengart meets the qualifications of the 
City of Statesboro for service on the Statesboro Planning Commission and that Mr. Rosengart has both the 
knowledge and the character that that will be beneficial to the Statesboro Planning Commission in 
discharging its responsibilities; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia as 
follows: 

Section 1. That Russell Rosengart is hereby appointed to the Statesboro Planning Commission for a two (2) 
year term. 

Section 2.  That this Resolution shall be and remain effective from and after its date of adoption. 

Adopted this ___ day of January, 2017. 

 
______________________________ 
Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
 

Attested by: 
________________________ 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 















 

                                                                               
 
 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 

Robert Cheshire, P.E.,  

Deputy City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum 

Sam Lee Jones 

Jeff Yawn 

John C. Riggs 

Travis L. Chance 

 

 

 

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Candra Teshome, Planning & Development Specialist 

 

Date: December 21, 2016 

 

RE: January 3, 2017 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Code of Ordinances:  Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages) 

Amendment  

 

Recommendation: N/A 

 

Background: The Department of Planning and Development has noted some 

conflicts during the alcoholic beverage application review process. Specifically, 

the application procedures and proximity requirements would benefit from 

revision. 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: N/A 

 

Attachments: Ordinance Amending Chapter 6 of the Statesboro Code of 

Ordinances



 

Ordinance 2017-01: An Ordinance Amending Chapter 6 of the Statesboro Code of 
Ordinances (Alcoholic Beverages) 

 
WHEREAS, the City has previously adopted an ordinance regulating alcoholic beverages; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council has determined there is sufficient reason and need to 
amend Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages) of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the public hearing that preceded the adoption of the ordinance amendment was 
advertised; and 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia, in regular session assembled as follows: 
 
Chapter 6 Alcoholic Beverages of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia is hereby 
amended and shall read as follows:  
 

A. Amend the existing Section 6-4(a) to strike and include following language: 
Sec. 6-5. - Application procedure; contents of application; contents to be furnished under 
oath. 
 
(a) Generally. The applicant for a license or permit under this chapter shall make a written 
application under oath on the form as proscribed by the City Clerk or his or her designated 
representative. A floor plan for each licensed premise as defined herein must be submitted with 
each application for a license under this chapter. At the time of initial application, a plat sketch 
from a registered surveyor registered in the state of Georgia shall be attached to the application 
which shall certify that all state and local proximity requirements for the proposed location have 
been met. Except as otherwise provided by law, such application shall be a public record and 
open to public inspection at a reasonable time and place. 
 

B. Amend the existing Section 6-7(a-f) to strike and include following language: 
 
Sec. 6-7—General regulations pertaining to all licenses. 
 

(a) License not transferable to another location. Each license is issued for a specific location only 
and may not be transferred to another location. A new application is required for each licensed 
premise. No license may be issued to different licensees for the same location. 
 
(b) Transfer of license to another person. No alcoholic beverage license shall be transferred from 
one person to another during the year in which the license or permit was obtained, except in the 
case of the death of a person holding a license, in which event his personal representative may 
continue to operate under the license for six months from the date of his qualification. 
 



 

(c) Location. None of the above licenses shall be issued except in the following zones as defined 
in Appendix A (Zoning) of the Code of the City of Statesboro: 
 
(1) CBD, Commercial Business District; 
 
(2) CR, Commercial Retail District; 
 
(3) HOC; Highway Oriented Commercial District 
 
(4) LI; Light Industrial District 
 
(d) Proximity Requirements; Package sales for off-premises consumption governed by O.C.G.A. 
§ 3-3-21. 
 

(1) Class B and C licenses shall be issued for a location only if the location complies with 
the proximity requirements provided by O.C.G.A. § 3-3-21 as measured by the Rules and 
Regulations promulgated by the Georgia Department of Revenue. 
(2) Nothing in this subparagraph shall prohibit a grocery store licensed for the retail sale 
of only wine and malt beverages for consumption off the premises from selling wine or malt 
beverages within 100 yards of any college campus. As used in this subparagraph, the term 
"grocery store" shall, as provided in O.C.G.A. § 3-3-21(a)(1)(B), mean a retail 
establishment which has a total retail floor space of at least 10,000 square feet of which at 
least 85 percent is reserved for the sale of food and other nonalcoholic items, and 
conducts all of its sales inside the building containing its retail floor space and meets all 
other criteria by this ordinance.  
 
(3) As further provided in O.C.G.A. § 3-3-21(a)(1)(B) the above proximity requirements 
shall not apply at any location for which a license has been issued prior to July 1, 1981, nor 
to the renewal of such license. Nor shall the above proximity requirements apply at any 
location for which a new license is applied for if the sale of wine and beer was lawful at 
such location at any time during the twelve (12) months immediately preceding such 
application. 
 

(e) Proximity Requirements; Sales for Consumption on the Premises; local regulation permitted 
per O.C.G.A. § 3-3-21(b)(3). 
 

(1) Class D, Class E and Class F alcoholic beverage licenses shall not be issued for a 
location in which the nearest point on a wall of the building proposed as the licensed 
premises is closer than 100 yards in a straight line measurement to the nearest wall of a 
school building, an educational building on a college campus, or a church in existence at 
the time of the application for the initial license. without a certificate from a land surveyor, 
registered in the state of Georgia, showing a scaled drawing of the location of the 
proposed premises and the shortest straight line distance from the front door/primary 
entrance to any church building, school building, educational building, school grounds, 
college building, or college campus located within a radius of 100 yards of the premises.  
  



 

(2) No licenses shall be issued under this chapter for any location in which the nearest 
point on a wall of the building proposed as the licensed premises is closer than 100 yards 
in a straight line measurement to the nearest point of the property line of an alcohol 
treatment center which is in existence at the time of the application for the initial license. 
without a certificate from a land surveyor, registered in the state of Georgia, showing a 
scaled drawing of the location of the proposed premises and the shortest straight line 
distance from the front door/primary entrance to any alcoholic treatment center building 
located within a radius of 100 yards of the premises.  
 
(3) No licenses shall be issued under this chapter for any location in which the nearest 
point on a wall of the building proposed as the licensed premises is closer than 100 yards 
in a straight line measurement to the nearest point of the property line of a private dwelling 
located within a single-family residentially zoned district which is in existence at the time of 
the application for the initial license. 
 
(4) The proximity requirements for Class D, Class E and Class F licenses shall be in effect 
for all districts in which such licenses are authorized, with the exception of any restaurant 
as defined in this chapter that is granted a distance waiver permit for a restaurant by the 
Mayor and City Council pursuant to subsection 6-5(o). 
 

(f) At the time of initial application, a plat sketch from a registered surveyor shall be attached to the 
application which shall certify that all state and local proximity requirements for the proposed 
location have been met. A survey may be required for property line measurements, in some 
instances, to include the minimum property line distances as required by state law.  
 
First Reading:  
  
Second Reading:   
 
THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
_________________________     _________________________ 
    By: Jan J. Moore, Mayor       Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk 



COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 
Sam Lee Jones, District 2  

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Travis L. Chance, District 5 

 

 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                  www.statesboroga.gov  

 

City of Statesboro   

       

 

 

50 East Main Street P.O. Box 348 

Statesboro, Georgia 30459 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
 Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

     J. Alvin Leaphart, City Attorney 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

To: Mayor & Council  

 

Cc: Randy Wetmore, City Manager  

 

From: Jeffery Grant, Director of Human Resources  

 

Date: January 3, 2017 

 

RE: Stop Loss Renewal & Agreements  

 

Policy Issue: Each year Taylor Benefit Resource our third-party administrator is 

responsible for bidding our stop-loss insurance coverage amongst carriers in the 

market.  

 

Recommendation: To approve the rates and agreements for renewal.  

 

Background: Below you will find the background information, descriptions of 

each agreement, and the rates associated with each service. 

 

1. Hines & Associates Inc. - This is a third party agreement through TBR for 

handling claims that are in need of case management, utilization review and 

other services for the management of health care services. Renewal occurs 

annually. The rates will remain the same at $2.05 per employee per month. 

The exhaustive list of services may be found in Exhibit 2 of the service 

agreement.  

 

2. Optum Inc. - This is a third party agreement through TBR for the managed 

transplant program. It is a separate umbrella policy for managing 

unexpected transplants.  The rates will decrease from $5.42/single and 

$13.02/family to $4.87/single and $11.69/family per billing cycle. This equates 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 
Sam Lee Jones, District 2  

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Travis L. Chance, District 5 

 

 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                  www.statesboroga.gov  

 

City of Statesboro   

       

 

 

50 East Main Street P.O. Box 348 

Statesboro, Georgia 30459 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
 Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

     J. Alvin Leaphart, City Attorney 

 

 

to an 11% decrease for single and 9% for family rates for the coming 

calendar year.  

 

3.  Cabot Inc. (Formerly Known as Everest) – This is a third party agreement 

through TBR for our managed stop loss insurance coverage. This is an 

umbrella policy that manages unexpected claims in the excess of $60,000. 

For the last few years stop-loss renewals have generally remained flat or 

decreased. Attached you will find a copy of the bids to market for stop loss 

coverage and the renewal agreement for signature. The rates will increase 

from $51.48/single and $127.97/family to $64.43/single and $173.25/family per 

billing cycle. This equates to a 20% increase for 2017. This increase is primarily 

due to a large claim in the current calendar year.  

 

Budget Impact: These expenses are budgeted for annually. For FY 2017, we 

budgeted $447,000 for these items. The approximate total increase to the Health 

Insurance budget needed is $53,000. This increase will be obtained from the 

Health Insurance Fund in which we have managed to build over the years from 

fund performance. The current equity and surplus of the Health Insurance Fund is 

$549,825.  

 

Attachments:  

Hines & Associates Agreement 

Optum Agreement  

Stop-Loss Market Bids  

Statement of Rates  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


























 
 
 

Cally Dean 
6101 Carnegie Blvd, Suite #500 
Charlotte, NC. 28209 
 

704.442.4104 Telephone 
cally.dean@optum.com 
 
www.myoptumhealthcomplexmedical.com 

 
 

  

October 6, 2016 

 
Policyholder:  City of Statesboro   

Policy Date:    January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2017 

Policy Number:  1000859 

Premium Due Date: January 1, 2017 

 

The Policyholder has selected the following critical care benefits plan:  Optum’s Managed Transplant 
Program 

   Current     Renewal 

Premium Rates: $5.42/Single    $4.87/Single 

   $13.02/Family    $11.69/Family    

Commissions:  0%     0% 

 
Please notify Optum if you have any changes in your Third Party Administrator, Case Management or 
Agent of Record.  This will allow Optum to continue to administer the Managed Transplant Program 
without disruption. 
 

By signing this document I agree to renew the Managed Transplant Program policy. 

 

 

________________________________  

(Signature) 

 ________________________________   

(Title) 

________________________________   

(Date) 

mailto:cally.dean@optum.com


Census Information

SINGLE 116

FAMILY 140

TOTAL 256

Current Renewal

Best Re Cabot Orien Risk DHR Management Creative Risk Underwriters

Insurance Carrier Everest Re

National Health Insurance 

Company American Fidelity US Fire GMIC

Specific Deductible $60,000 $60,000 $60,000 $60,000 $60,000

Specific Contract 12/15 12/15 12/15 12/15 12/15

 

PREMIUM

Single  51.48 64.43 69.50 112.30 64.43

Family 127.97 173.25 172.76 300.89 173.25

STOP LOSS PLACEMENT FEE 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00

TRANSPLANT POLICY

Single 5.42 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.87

Family 13.02 11.69 11.69 11.69 11.69

ADMINISTRATION FEES

Admin - Medical 11.00 11.00 11.00 11.00 11.00

Admin – Dental 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Admin - COBRA 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Admin - Vision 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Precert 2.05 2.05 2.05 2.05 2.05

PPO 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

BROKER 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00

Mo. Agg Accommodation 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total Annual Administration 55,449.60 55,449.60 55,449.60 55,449.60 55,449.60

AFFORDABLE CARE ACT 

Transitional Reinsurance Fee 19,018.32 12,196.35 12,196.35 12,196.35 12,196.35

PCORI Fee 627.96 1,303.64 1,303.64 1,303.64 1,303.64

19,646.28 13,499.99 13,499.99 13,499.99 13,499.99

Total Stop Loss / Admin  Fixed Cost 415,739.88 500,690.39 506,924.63 781,760.63 500,690.39

LASERS CLEARED CLEARED

 

City of Statesboro



 

  

  

CLIENT NAME: City of Statesboro CARRIER: National Health Insurance Company

SINGLE 116 MGU: Cabot

EE + Spouse 0 AGENT: Glenn Davis & Assoc.

EE + Child(ren) Rate 0  

FAMILY 140 Total Lives: EFFECTIVE:  01/01/17

TOTAL 256 0   

SPECIFIC 60,000 12/15 AGG  0   

  

STOP-LOSS MONTHLY Annually Transplant Coverage MONTHLY  

Single Rate 66.70 7,737.20 Single Rate  4.87 564.92

EE + Spouse Rate 0.00 0.00 EE + Spouse Rate 0.00 0.00

EE + Child(ren) Rate 0.00 0.00 EE + Child(ren) Rate 0.00 0.00

Family Rate 175.39 24,554.60 Family Rate 11.69 1,636.60

 32,291.80 387,501.60 Administration Fee 0.00 0.00

 2,201.52

STOP-LOSS PLACEMENT FEE 8.00 2,048.00 24,576.00     ANNUAL 26,418.24

AGGREGATE PREMIUM 0.00 0.00 0.00

ADMINISTRATION MONTHLY

Admin - Medical 11.50 2,944.00

Admin – Dental 1.00 256.00 Total Cost Max Cost Exp Cost Cobra Rates

Admin - COBRA 0.00 0.00 Single 127.30 127.30 662.00

Admin - Vision 0.00 0.00 EE + Spouse 0.00 0.00 0.00

Precert 2.05 524.80 EE + Children 0.00 0.00 0.00

PPO 0.00 0.00 Family 242.81 242.81 1527.00

BROKER 4.00 1,024.00

Mo. Agg Accommodation 0.00 0.00

4,748.80 56,985.60

MONTHLY TRANSPLANT PREMIUM 2,201.52 26,418.24

AFFORDABLE CARE ACT MONTHLY

Transitional Reinsurance Fee 27.0004 1,016.36 12,196.35 Lasers CLEARED

PCORI Fee 2.18 108.64 1,303.64   

 1,125.00 13,499.99  

  

CLINIC COST 0 0.00 0.00

LOAN COST 0 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00

TOTAL FIXED COST 42,415.12 508,981.43

(Stoploss + Administration)

CLAIMS LIABILITY MONTHLY

Single - Expected 0.00 0.00

EE + Spouse - Expected 0.00 0.00

EE + Children - Expected 0.00 0.00

Family - Expected 0.00 0.00   

Expected Claims 0.00 0.00

Single - Maximum 0.00 0.00

EE + Spouse - Maximum 0.00 0.00  

EE + Children - Maximum 0.00 0.00

Family - Maximum 0.00 0.00

Maximum Claims (25% Corridor) 0.00 0.00

(Fixed Cost + Claims) MONTHLY ANNUALLY

MAXIMUM COST 42,415.12 508,981.43

Employer

Expected Cost $42,415.12 508,981.43 Signature: Date:

    



 
 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Travis L. Chance, District 5 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

    
To:   Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

 

From:  Jason Boyles, Director of Public Works and Engineering 

  David Campbell, Assistant City Engineer 

 

Date:  12/22/2016 

 

RE:  Bid ‘2016-11 Stormwater Shelter’, STM-9 

 

Policy Issue:  Purchasing 

 

Recommendation:  

Two lump sum bids for the referenced project were received as follows: 

 

Contractor Base Bid Alternate Total 

Hawk Construction $119,580.00 $43,310.00 $162,890.00 

Tippins-Polk Construction $169,800.00 $37,600.00 $207,400.00 

 

The low bidder, Hawk Construction, meets the requirements of the bid package 

and submitted an acceptable bid, including performance and payment bonds.  

Staff recommends award to Hawk Construction in the amount of $162,890.00. 

 

Background:  

Base bid includes construction of a 30’6”x80’ open shelter addition with 

enclosed office/crew room.  Alternate pricing was provided for an additional 

35’6”x38’ open shelter.  Shelters provide storage for equipment and materials. 

 

Budget Impact:   

The low bid received by Hawk Construction exceeds the CIP budget of 

$100,000. However, savings realized from assistance by City GIS staff on STM-1, 

Master Planning, and by delaying STM-3, Regional Detention Facilities ($100,000), 

as needed, will provide the additional necessary funds for this project total. 

Council Person and District: 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

 

Attachments: N/A 



 
 CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 

J. Alvin Leaphart, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Sam Jones, District 2 
Jeff Yawn, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Travis L. Chance, District 5 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
    
 
 
To:  Randy Wetmore, City Manager 
 Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager  
  
From: Darren Prather, Central Services Director 
 
 
Date: 12-23-2016 
 
 
RE: State of GA Contract Purchase—Crew Cab Truck/PW-Streets Div 
 
 
Policy Issue:  None 
 
 
Recommendation: We recommend the purchase of a cab & chassis truck for 
the Streets Division of Public Works in the amount of $29,850.00 from Allan Vigil 
Ford per the State of GA contract # SWC 99999-SPDES49199373-0002.  
 
 
Background:  $29,850.00 off GA State Contract #SWC 99999-SPD-ES49199373-
0002. $40,000 was budgeted in FY 2017 for this item and the purchase will be 
funded using the GMA Lease Pool. This item is budget under CIP# ENG-STS-80. 
This will replace an existing unit that will be brought before Council to be 
declared surplus at a later date. This truck will be used in a landscape servicing 
application. 
 
Budget Impact: $29,850.00 with the remaining amount of the $40,000 budgeted 
going towards up fitting the landscape body and safety equipment required for 
this vehicle. This is funded by the GMA Lease Pool. 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
 
Attachments: None 



 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
 
 
 
 



 
 CITY OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 

J. Alvin Leaphart, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Sam Jones, District 2 
Jeff Yawn, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Travis L. Chance, District 5 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
    
 
 
To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager 
     Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 
 
 
From: Darren Prather, Central Services Director 
 
 
Date: 12-23-2016 
 
 
RE: Recommendation of a Contract with Bulloch County for High-resolution 
Aerial Photography for use by our GIS Department to provide an increased level 
of service to our Utilities and the Citizens of Statesboro. 
 
Policy Issue: None 
 
Recommendation:  
This amount represents the additional cost to provide high-resolution aerial photography for the City of Statesboro as none of the 
base charge paid by the County is included in this total. This high-resolution is needed to service our utilities, structures and 
residential/commercial development within the City. The low-resolution does not give enough detail for accurate useable 
information due to the complexity and denseness within the City limits. We recommend Council approve the Mayor to sign this 
agreement with Bulloch County to provide high-resolution aerial photography in the amount of $23,141.75 with the first payment 
of $7,714.71 being due immediately and the next two payments being due as a part of fiscal years 2018 and 2019. If approved, 
this would be funded, on a percentage basis, by City departments utilizing this product. 
 
 
Background: The City of Statesboro wishes to enter into a reimbursement contract with Bulloch County for the purpose 
of obtaining the use of aerial photography to assist with the City of Statesboro’s GIS program. The County has a contract with 
Pictometry International Corporation for low-resolution aerial photography covering all of Bulloch County including the City. 
While we have use of the basic low-resolution aerial photography of the City of Statesboro, due to the dense development, the 
City is in need of a high-resolution product. Due to this fact, we wish to reimburse the County and have their selected contractor, 
who is doing aerial photography of the County in February, provide the City with a high-resolution product for our use. We will 
benefit from a volume discount since this company is doing aerial photography of the complete County and can perform this 
high-resolution photography at the same time. The City of Statesboro’s GIS Division recently provided a demonstration to 
Administration and Department Heads as to the necessity and usefulness of this high-resolution product. The additional cost of 
this high-resolution would be the source of reimbursement payments to the County in a three year total amount of $23,141.75. 
 
 
 
 



 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

Budget Impact:  
FY 2017:   $ 7,714.71 
FY 2018 :  $ 7,713.52 
FY 2019 :  $ 7,713.52 
Total (3Years):  $ 23,141.75 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: None 
 
 
 
 
 


	01-03-2017 Council Agenda
	12-06-2016 Council minutes
	01-2017-01 Election Resolution
	01-2017 ALcohol ZIP N FOOD #10
	01-2017 Alcohol Application SOUTHERN BILLIARD & BURGERS
	01-2017 ALCOHOL VIOLATIONS LETTERS
	01-2017 V 16-11-03 Monarch 301 Apts
	01-2017 RZ 16-12-01 Council Agenda Packet (1)
	01-2017 SE 16-10-07 Vaden Nissan
	01-2017-02 Resolution Russell Rosengart
	01-2017-02 Memo & App Russell Rosengart
	01-2017 Chapter 6 Alcohol Ordinance Amedment (1) memo
	01-2017 Chapter 6 Alcohol Ordinance Amedment (2)
	WHEREAS, the City has previously adopted an ordinance regulating alcoholic beverages; and
	Sec. 6-5. - Application procedure; contents of application; contents to be furnished under
	oath.
	(a) Generally. The applicant for a license or permit under this chapter shall make a written application under oath on the form as proscribed by the City Clerk or his or her designated representative. A floor plan for each licensed premise as defined ...

	01-2017-1Stop-Loss Renewal Memo to Mayor & Council (3)
	01-2017-2 Hines & Associates Agreement 1
	01-2017-3 Optum Transplant Renewal Quote
	01-2017-4 2016 Stop Loss Bid
	01-2017-5 TBR Renewal Proposal - City of Statesboro
	01-2017 Shelter Bid Award Memo
	01-2017 Rec Streets Div Lscape truck 2017 (2)
	01-2017 Contract aerial photo

